# **HOME** Policies and Procedures

Kenosha, WI



FY 2015-16

Revised October 28, 2015







## **Table of Contents**

Introduction	7
Purposes and Goals	7
Distribution of Funding	8
Definitions	8
Application for funds	12
Application Timeline	12
Allocation	12
Maximum Funding Amount	13
Eligible Applicants/Sponsors and Capacity	13
Joint Applicants	14
Eligibility Requirements	14
Consolidated Plan	14
Disclaimers	15
Use of Contractors	15
Project Threshold Criteria	16
Contributes to Implementation of Strategic Goals of the Consolidated Plan	16
Site Control	16
Financially Feasible Project	16
Project Time Frame	16
Leverage of HOME funds	16
Evidence and Capacity of Development Team	17
General Policies and Procedures	18

	Minimum Subsidy	. 18
	Types of Housing	. 18
	Expenditure Time Frames	. 18
Projec	t Maximums	. 19
	Rent Limits	. 19
	Per Unit Subsidy – Rental	. 19
	Homeownership Value Limit	. 19
Sectio	n 504 and Fair Housing Act	. 19
Monito	oring	. 19
	Quarterly Status Reports	. 19
	Annual Monitoring	. 19
	Payment Requests	. 20
	Income Determination and Eligibility	. 20
	Record Retention	. 20
	General	. 20
	Match Requirements	. 21
	Affordability Period	. 21
	Lead-based Paint	. 22
	Useful Life of Major Systems and Capital Needs Assessments	22
CHDO.		. 23
	CHDO Commitment of Funds	. 23
	CHDO Certification	. 24
	CHDO Policies and Procedures	. 24
Rental	Projects	25

	General Requirements	. 25
Rental	Property Standards	. 26
	New Construction	. 26
	Rehabilitation	. 27
	Occupancy	. 27
	Tenant Selection	. 28
	Fixed/Floating Units	. 29
	Rent Restrictions	. 29
	Site and Neighborhood Standards	. 29
	Project Completion	. 29
	Funding Levels	. 29
Home	ownership Activities	. 30
	Construction/Rehab of Homeownership Units for Resale	.30
	Construction/Rehab of Homeownership Units for Resale  Bid Procedures	
		. 31
	Bid Procedures	. 31 . 31
	Bid Procedures  Payment/Release of Funds	. 31 . 31 . 32
	Bid Procedures  Payment/Release of Funds  Relocation	. 31 . 31 . 32 . 32
	Payment/Release of Funds	. 31 . 32 . 32 . 32
	Bid Procedures	. 31 . 32 . 32 . 32
Tenant	Bid Procedures	. 31 . 32 . 32 . 32 . 32
	Bid Procedures  Payment/Release of Funds  Relocation  Cost Overruns  Developer Fees  Project Completion  Funding Levels	. 31 . 32 . 32 . 32 . 32 . 33
Owner	Bid Procedures  Payment/Release of Funds  Relocation  Cost Overruns  Developer Fees  Project Completion  Funding Levels  t-based Rental Assistance	. 31 . 32 . 32 . 32 . 32 . 33 . 34

Anti-Predatory Lending Policy	37
Subordination Policy	37
HOME Rent Limits	Appendix 1
Per Unit Subsidy	Appendix 2
Homeownership Value Limits	Appendix 3
Affirmative Marketing Policy	Appendix 4
Subsidy Layering Guidelines & Underwriting Standards	Appendix 5
CHDO Policies and Procedures	Appendix 6
TBRA Program Guidelines	Appendix 7

#### HOME INVESTMENT PARTNERSHIPS PROGRAM

### **POLICIES AND PROCEDURES**

The City of Kenosha has created the HOME Policies and Procedures manual as a guide to help recipients of HOME Investment Partnership Program funds understand their responsibilities under the program and how the Department of Community Development and Inspections staff views potential/actual projects. However, the information in this manual is not a substitute for federal laws and regulations governing the program. Recipients of funds are responsible for compliance with program requirements. Applicants for HOME program funding are encouraged to familiarize themselves with both this manual and the HOME regulations which can be found on the U.S. Department of Housing & Urban Development's website at:

#### https://www.onecpd.info/home

The policies and procedures contained in this manual apply to all projects receiving HOME funds through the City of Kenosha. Any violation of the requirements of the HOME program or policies contained within could result in the repayment of HOME funds received by the recipient.

The HOME Program Commission oversees the administration of the HOME program.

HUD updates the HOME Income limits, HOME Rent Limits, Subsidy Limits and Homeownership Value Limits on an annual basis. Appendices 1 through 3 will be updated with applicable limits for each Program Year, as released by HUD.

These Policies and Procedures will be updated as the HOME program changes in the future or as needed.

# Purposes and Goals

#### INTRODUCTION

The HOME Investment Partnerships Program (HOME) was created under Title II of the National Affordable Housing Act of 1990. The HOME program has been amended several times since then by subsequent legislation, most recently on July 23, 2013. Under the HOME program, the Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) allocates funds to Participating Jurisdictions (PJ) to be used to implement housing strategies in accordance with Federal HOME regulations (24 CFR Part 92). The City of Kenosha has been designated as the Participating Jurisdiction (PJ) to receive HOME funds.

Through the use of HOME funds, the City of Kenosha strives to encourage and stimulate neighborhood revitalization. As a HUD designated PJ, the City is charged with the proficient administration of HOME funds. In an effort to increase the efficiency in which HOME funds are utilized and increase the impact of these dollars on our community, the City has developed the following policies and procedures. Purposes and Goals

The intent of the HOME program as established by HUD is to:

- Provide decent, safe, and affordable housing to low-income families, up to 80% of Area Median Income (AMI);
- Expand the capacity of non-profit housing providers;
- Strengthen the ability of state and local governments to provide housing; and
- Leverage private sector participation through public, private and non-profit partnerships to address affordable housing.

HOME funds may be used for the purposes of creating, maintaining and expanding affordable rental and homeownership housing for low income families through the following eligible activities:

- Acquisition (including assistance to homebuyers);
- New construction (including adding additional units to an existing structure);
- Rehabilitation of non-luxury housing with suitable amenities including related costs such as:
  - o Property acquisition,
  - Site improvements,
  - Demolition, and
  - Other eligible expenses including financing costs, relocation expenses of any displaced persons, families, businesses, or organizations;

- Down payment and/or Closing Cost assistance;
- Tenant-based rental assistance to eligible households including security deposits;
- Operating expenses of Community Housing Development Organizations (CHDO's).
- \*All housing supported with HOME funds must be permanent or transitional housing.
- \*\* A HOME assisted project that is terminated before completion, either voluntarily or otherwise, constitutes an ineligible activity and will be subject to recapture.

## **Distribution of Funding**

The City of Kenosha distributes HOME funds geographically within its boundaries and among different categories of housing need, according to the priorities of housing need identified in its approved consolidated plan and HOME Program Description. The City of Kenosha only invests HOME funds in eligible projects within its boundaries.

Applications for City of Kenosha Home funds are solicited on a continuous basis, with the exception of CHDO funds, (subject to fund availability) and reviewed competitively. CHDO funds are available on annual basis. Existing CHDO's are required to submit a CHDO Recertification document to the City by April of each calendar year. The City of Kenosha only accepts applications for projects noted as "Eligible HOME Program Activities" in the adopted HOME Program Description. Before committing funds to a project, the City of Kenosha underwrites and evaluates the project and will not invest any more HOME funds, in combination with other governmental assistance, than is necessary to provide affordable housing.

The competitive selection criteria for projects, if applicable, will be published at the time applications are solicited.

#### **Definitions**

- 1. <u>Action Plan</u>: The one-year portion of the Consolidated Plan. It includes the PJ's annual application for HOME funds.
- 2. <u>Adjusted Income</u>: Adjusted income is annual (gross) income reduced by deductions for dependents, elderly households, medical expenses, handicap assistance expenses and childcare (these are the same adjustment factors used by the Section 8 Program). Adjusted income is used in HOME to compute the actual tenant payment in TBRA programs and the low HOME rent in rental projects in which rents are based on 30% of a family's adjusted gross income.
- 3. <u>Affordability</u>: The requirements of the HOME Program that relate to the cost of housing both at initial occupancy and over established timeframes, as prescribed in the HOME Final Rule. Affordability requirements vary depending upon the nature of the HOME assisted activity (i.e., homeownership or rental housing).

- 4. <u>Annual Income</u>: Annual income as defined in 24 CFR 5.609, referred to as "Part 5 annual income", also known as the rules for determining income under the Section 8 voucher program, or adjusted gross income as defined for the purposes of reporting under Internal Revenue Service (IRS) Form 1040 series for individual Federal annual tax purposes. Part 5 annual income shall be used for rental and TBRA projects. Adjusted gross income as reported on Form 1040 shall be used for homebuyer, homeowner rehabilitation and down payment assistance programs.
- 5. Commitment: Commitment means (1) The participating jurisdiction has executed a legally binding written agreement (that includes the date of the signature of each person signing the agreement) with a Community Housing Development Organization (CHDO), subrecipient, or a contractor to use a specific amount of HOME funds to produce affordable housing, provide down payment assistance, or provide tenant-based rental assistance; or has met the requirements to commit to a specific local project, as defined in paragraph (2) of this definition. (See § 92.504(c) for minimum requirements for a written agreement.) An agreement between the participating jurisdiction and a subrecipient that is controlled by the participating jurisdiction (e.g., an agency whose officials or employees are official or employees of the participating jurisdiction) does not constitute a commitment. In addition, and only until October 21, 2013, a properly executed written agreement reserving a specific amount of funds for a CHDO may constitute a commitment. As of October 22, 2013 the requirements for commitment to a specific local project will apply to all CHDO fund commitments.

  6. Commitment to a specific local project: Commitment to a specific local project means that a locally binding agreement was executed meeting one of the following sets of requirements:
- legally binding agreement was executed meeting one of the following sets of requirements: (1) For rehabilitation or new construction projects, the PJ (or other entity) and the project owner will execute an agreement for an identifiable project for which all necessary financing has been secured, a budget and schedule have been established, and underwriting has been completed and under which construction is scheduled to start within 12 months of the agreement date. If the project is owned by the City of Kenosha, the project must be set up in the disbursement and information system and construction reasonably expected to start within 12 months of the set-up date.
- (2) If the project consists of acquisition of standard housing by the PJ, the agreement must be a binding contract for the sale of an identifiable property and the property title must be transferred to the PJ (or other entity) within six months of the date of the contract.
- (3) If the project involves the acquisition of standard housing and the City of Kenosha is providing HOME funds to a purchaser, under the agreement, the title of the property must be transferred to the purchaser within six months of the agreement date.
- (4) If the project consists of TBRA, the City of Kenosha/Subrecipient must enter into a rental assistance contract with the owner or the tenant in accordance with the provisions of 24 CFR Part 92.209.

- (5) Note that preliminary or conditional "commitments" may be made, but no funds are considered committed under the rules unless the above conditions have been met.
- 7. <u>Consolidated Plan</u>: A plan prepared in accordance with the requirements set forth in 24 CFR Part 91 which describes community needs, resources, priorities and proposed activities to be undertaken under certain HUD programs, including HOME.
- 8. <u>Community Housing Development Organization (CHDO)</u>: A private, nonprofit organization that meets a series of qualifications prescribed in the HOME regulations at 24 CFR Part 92.2. The HOME New Rule requires that CHDO's have paid staff with demonstrated capacity appropriate to the CHDO's role (this requirement cannot be met through volunteer, donated staff, shared staff, or board members). A participating jurisdiction must award at least 15 percent of its annual HOME allocation to CHDOs.
- 9. <u>Draw-Down</u>: The process of requesting and receiving HOME funds. The City of Kenosha draws down funds from a line of credit established by HUD.
- 10. <u>Final Rule</u>: The Final HOME Rule was published at 24 CFR Part 92 on July 24, 2013 and became effective on August 24, 2013.
- 11. <u>HOME-Assisted Units</u>: A term that refers to the units within a HOME project for which rent, occupancy and/or resale restrictions apply. The number of units designated as HOME-assisted affects the maximum HOME subsidies that may be provided to a project.
- 12. <u>HOME Funds</u>: All appropriations for the HOME Program, plus all repayments and interest or other returns on the investment of these funds.
- 13. <u>HOME Investment Trust Fund</u>: The term given to the two accounts one at the Federal level and one at the local level that "hold" the City of Kenosha's HOME funds. The Federal HOME Investment Trust Account is the U.S. Treasury account for each participating jurisdiction. The local HOME Investment Trust Fund account includes repayments of HOME funds, matching contributions and payment of interest or other returns on investment.
- 14. Household: One or more persons occupying a housing unit.
- 15. <u>Jurisdiction</u>: A state or unit of general local government.
- 16. <u>Low-Income Families</u>: Families whose annual incomes do not exceed 80 percent of the median income for the area (adjusted for family size).
- 17. <u>Match</u>: Match is the City of Kenosha's contribution to the HOME Program the local, non-Federal contribution to the partnership. The City of Kenosha's match contribution must equal not less than 25 percent of the HOME funds drawn down for projects in that fiscal year.
- 18. <u>New Construction</u>: The creation of new dwelling units. Any project which includes the creation of new or additional dwelling units in an existing structure is considered new construction.
- 19. <u>Participating Jurisdiction (PJ)</u>: The term given to any state, local government or consortium that has been designated by HUD to administer a HOME Program. HUD designation as a PJ occurs if a state or local government meets the funding thresholds, notifies HUD that they intend to participate in the program and has a HUD-approved Consolidated Plan.

- 20. <u>Program Income</u>: Gross income received by the City of Kenosha, a CHDO that does not retain CHDO Proceeds, or a sub recipient directly generated from the use of HOME funds or matching contributions.
- 21. <u>Project</u>: A site or an entire building or two or more buildings, together with the site or sites on which the building or buildings is located, that are under common ownership, management and financing and are to be assisted with HOME funds, under a commitment by the owner, as a single undertaking. The HOME Final Rule eliminated the requirement that all buildings fall within a four block radius.
- 22. <u>Project completion</u>: All necessary title transfer requirements and construction work have been performed; the project complies with all HOME requirements; the final draw-down of HOME funds has been disbursed for the project; and the project completion information has been entered in the disbursement and information system established by HUD, except that with respect to rental housing project completion, for the purposes of § 92.502(d) of this part, project completion occurs upon completion of construction and before occupancy. For TBRA, project completion means the final draw-down has been disbursed for the project.
- 23. <u>Reconstruction (also rehabilitation)</u>: The rebuilding, on the same lot, of housing standing on a site at the time of project commitment. Except that housing that was destroyed may be rebuilt on the same lot if HOME funds are committed within 12 months of the date of destruction the number of housing units on the lot may not be changed as part of the reconstruction project, but the number of rooms per unit may change. Reconstruction also includes replacing an existing substandard unit of manufactured housing with a new or standard unit of manufactured housing.
- 24. State Recipient: State PJs can award their HOME funds to units of local government to run HOME locally. Any unit of local government designated by a state to receive HOME funds is called a "state recipient." The state is responsible for ensuring that HOME funds allocated to state recipients are used in accordance with the HOME regulations and other applicable laws. 25. Sub recipient: A public agency or nonprofit organization selected by the City of Kenosha to administer all or a portion of the City of Kenosha's HOME Program. A public agency or nonprofit organization that receives HOME funds solely as a developer or owner of housing (CHDO) is not a sub recipient.
- 26. <u>Targeting</u>: Requirements of the HOME Program relating to the income or other characteristics of households that may occupy HOME-assisted units.
- 27. <u>Tenant-Based Rental Assistance (TBRA)</u>: A form of direct rental assistance in which the recipient tenant may move from a dwelling unit with a right to continued assistance. Includes security and utility deposits associated with the rental of dwelling units.
- 28. <u>Very-Low-Income Families</u>: Families whose annual incomes do not exceed 50 percent of the median income for the area (adjusted for family size).

## Policies and Procedures

#### APPLICATION FOR FUNDS

## **Application Timeline**

The City of Kenosha will accept applications on a continuous basis, unless otherwise noted.

Complete applications must be received in the offices of the Department of Community Development and Inspections. Prior to submitting applications to the Department, applicants are required to discuss the project with Program Staff. Faxed or emailed applications will NOT be accepted.

Three original proposals with original signatures including a hard copy of the required pro forma pages must be submitted to:

City of Kenosha HOME Program
Attention: Mike Maki
625 52<sup>nd</sup> Street, Room 308
Kenosha, WI 53140

Applications become the property of the City of Kenosha and will not be returned. Inaccurate information contained in an application will disqualify the Applicant from consideration. The Minimum Threshold Requirements for each HOME application are included in the Ranking Criteria. Applicants who fail to meet any minimum threshold requirement will not be considered for funding. Minor corrections to applications may be allowed, but applications requiring substantial revision or which are substantially incomplete will not be reviewed or ranked.

#### **Allocation**

The amount for eligible activities on an annual basis is 90% of allocated HOME funds after allocating the allowable 10% administrative funding. Up to 90% of Program Income funds may also be used for eligible activities.

A minimum of 15% of the total HOME funds is available exclusively for certified Community Housing Development Organizations (CHDO) performing CHDO eligible activities. Please refer to the CHDO section of these policies to determine an organization's eligibility as a CHDO and also to determine eligible CHDO activities. An additional 5% of the total annual HOME grant funding may be used for CHDO administrative expenses, up to a maximum of \$25,000.

## **Maximum Funding Amount**

When allocating funds, HOME considers the total amount of assistance from both public and private sources needed to ensure project feasibility. Applicants are encouraged to request for only the amount of HOME funds needed as gap financing to make the project feasible. Requesting funds for administration is not allowed; however, applicants may request reasonable dollars for developer fees and soft costs in an amount corresponding to the following housing activities. All HOME costs, including soft costs must be tied to specific housing addresses.

- **Eligible Project Related Soft Costs,** as described in 24 CFR 92.206(d), area costs that can be directly tied to an address of the project or individual being assisted. These costs must be reasonable and necessary costs associated with the financing or development (or both) of new construction, rehabilitation, or acquisition of housing assisted with HOME funds. These include the following:
  - Project-specific fees for a HOME-assisted project (such as private lender origination fees, credit reports, fees for title evidence, fees for recordation and filing of legal documents, building permits, attorneys fees, private appraisal fees, and fees for an independent cost estimate);
  - Architectural, engineering, or related professional services required to prepare plans, drawings or specifications of a project;
  - Preparation of work write-ups, work specifications, and cost estimates or review of these items if an owner has had them independently prepared;
  - Construction inspection and oversight;
  - Project document preparation;
  - Costs to process and settle the mortgage financing for a project;
  - Pre-purchase homebuyer counseling for a HOME-assisted homebuyer;
  - Costs to inspect property for compliance with property standards or to conduct a visual assessment for deteriorated paint;
  - Cost of inspection units for the presence of lead hazards or defective paint;
  - Developer fees (limited).

**NOTE:** Indirect costs are not eligible soft costs.

Applicants should request only the level of funding necessary to carry out their projects and must be in combination with other proposed funding sources, to complete the proposed activities within the contract period.

## **Eligible Applicants/Sponsors and Capacity**

Applicants/Sponsors must have prior experience in developing and managing the type of project they plan to undertake. Applicants/Sponsors must demonstrate that they or their development team has the skills, experience, and capacity needed to develop and operate the

property for a minimum period of affordability. Collaborative efforts with experienced parties and/or experienced development teams will be considered.

The following types of organizations are eligible to apply for funds:

- Non-profit organizations, including Community Housing Development Organizations (CHDO). The CHDO must be certified by the City of Kenosha.
- For profit entities, including individuals, partnership, corporation and limited liability companies.
- City of Kenosha Housing Authority

## **Joint Applicants**

Two or more eligible applicants may submit one application under the following conditions:

 One joint applicant is designated as the Lead Applicant during the term of the HOME project and period of affordability. The lead applicant must accept full responsibility for application submission and for administrative, regulatory, and financial management requirements.

## **Eligibility Requirements**

Applicants, including all entities of a joint application, currently administering a HOME project are eligible to apply for additional HOME funds if:

- The applicant is in compliance with the project implementation schedule contained within its HOME funding agreement with the City for any open HOME-assisted housing project.
- There are no unresolved audit, monitoring, or performance findings for any previous HOME funding allocations to the applicant.
- All projects three years or older are completed and conditionally closed out (have submitted the final draw and may just be awaiting the submittal of demographic information) before applying for additional funds.

#### **Consolidated Plan**

HOME program applicants must submit proposals that are consistent with the City's current Consolidated Plan (Con Plan) and HOME Program Description. Before submitting an application, the applicant must review the Con Plan and HOME Program Description (found on the Department of Community Development and Inspections web site, www.kenosha.org/) to ensure that the activities are in conformance with the Plan and Description. Additionally, applicants are required to discuss the project with Program staff prior to submitting an application.

#### **Disclaimers**

The City of Kenosha reserves the right to recommend to the HOME Program Commission and Common Council and other other approving bodies to not award all available funds if submitted proposals do not meet the project threshold and evaluation and funding criteria or do not address the program priorities. Funds not allocated during a funding cycle may be awarded during a subsequent application cycle. City of Kenosha also reserves the right to allocate these funds to projects during the course of the year, prior to the next application round.

City of Kenosha reserves the right to reserve and allocate HOME funds to any project. City of Kenosha may deny HOME funds for any project, regardless of the ranking score under the project selection criteria, if applicable, if it determines, in its sole discretion, the project is unacceptable based on, but not limited to the following:

- Negative comments or lack of support from community organization(s) and stakeholder(s), or
- Information that a particular market is saturated with affordable housing projects, or
- The likelihood that the project may not comply with HOME program requirements in a timely manner, or
- The applicant's (including any related party's) lack of or unacceptable prior experience and performance related to compliance with housing assistance or other government-sponsored programs, regardless of type and location.

#### **Use of Contractors**

In accordance with federal regulations, HOME funds may not be used to directly or indirectly employ, award contracts to, or otherwise engage the services of any contractor or Suprecipient during any period of debarment, suspension, or placement of ineligibility status.

# Project Threshold Criteria

All projects submitted for funding consideration through the HOME Investment Partnership Program must meet the following threshold criteria to be eligible for a funding commitment:

## Contributes To Implementation Of Strategic Goals Of The Consolidated Plan

Proposed projects must match one or more of City of Kenosha Funding Priorities as listed in the Consolidated Plan. Applicants must familiarize themselves with the City of Kenosha Consolidated Plan. The current plan will expire December 31, 2014. The new Consolidated Plan is in process and will cover the period of January 1, 2015 – December 31, 2019. All Consolidated Plan currently cover a period of 5 years from the end of the previous Consolidated Plan.

#### **Site Control**

For projects that require site control, applicant must have sight control or the opportunity of site control for all properties necessary for project completion. Applicant must provide proof of site control with its application for funding.

## **Financially Feasible Project**

Applicant has submitted a Project Development Pro Forma, which must cover the entire HOME affordability period of the proposed project, that provides evidence of a financially feasible project, evidenced by a complete listing of committed and anticipated funding sources available to the project and a Pro Forma that illustrates reasonable assumptions regarding interest rates, confidence in availability of funds, and evidence of market need. For homeownership projects cost, sales, and market analysis are required. For rental projects - reasonable rent and operating cost assumptions are required.

If applicant has applied for tax credits from WHEDA, a copy of the WHEDA Subsidy Layering Review should be included with the application.

## **Project Time Frame**

Applicant has submitted a timeline for project completion that makes reasonable assumptions concerning land acquisition and site-preparation, funding cycles and parameters for all funding sources, construction time, sales absorption or rent-up period, and capacity of the development team. An applicant's history in project development/completion will also be considered.

### **Leverage Of Home Funds**

Priority consideration will be given to projects with budgets that require less than 50% of permanent funds from the sum of HOME and CDBG sources. Although projects that serve very low-income households may require higher public subsidies, leveraging other funds with HOME

and CDBG is strongly encouraged. For awarded projects, City of Kenosha will make conditional commitments early in the project development process to assist the developer in seeking funds from other sources.

Commitment of HOME funding (in the form of the signed Funding Agreement) will not occur until all project financing has been secured and a budget and project time frame provided. The Project must also be ready to expend funds within 12 months of project commitment.

## **Evidence And Capacity Of Development Team**

Applicant should have a track record of successful project development, timely completion and projects-in-service or, in the case of a new or emerging developer, evidence of real estate development and project management expertise. Application should indicate what skills and roles the non-profit staff will be assuming and any other members of the project development team.

Note: City of Kenosha is interested in investing HOME Partnership Funding only in viable projects that will provide quality affordable housing in an efficient, and timely manner. Housing developers with minimal development experience are encouraged to partner with experienced developers to enhance their ability to produce and deliver housing efficiently. All applications for HOME funding will be reviewed for tangible evidence that the capacity of the development and construction team is solid. Projects with strong development capability will receive higher consideration for HOME funding.

## General Policies and Procedures

## **Minimum Subsidy**

The minimum HOME subsidy for any project is \$1,000 per unit in accordance with HOME regulations.

## **Types Of Housing**

HOME funds may be used for the construction or purchase of single-family (one unit) homes, doubles (two units sharing a common wall but owned individually), townhomes, cooperatives, and multi-unit rental apartments. All housing units developed with HOME assistance (homeownership and rental) must be affordable to buyer and renter households earning 80% of Area Median Income (AMI) or below. Construction may be one or a combination of several methods including stick-built, panelized, or modular. Mobile and manufactured homes are not eligible for HOME funding assistance. For the purposes of this manual, the following definitions apply:

- ✓ <u>Stick-Built</u> a house that is constructed primarily on-site from raw materials. This construction method may utilize some pre-constructed elements such as roof framing.
- ✓ <u>Panelized</u> a house that is brought to the construction site in pre-built panels (wall sections), assembled on-site, and finished. Panelized houses are stick built houses with some of the components constructed off-site.
- ✓ <u>Modular</u> a home which is stick-built in modules (two or more boxes) in a factory, transported to the site by truck, and placed on a permanent basement or crawl space foundation by a crane. The modules are bolted together, finished and may also involve on-site additions i.e. porches, garages, and other customization. These houses are essentially the same as stick-built on-site only the majority of the construction is accomplished in a controlled factory environment.
- ✓ <u>Mobile</u>— a house that is fully constructed in a factory on a steel chassis, brought to the site on wheels, but not permanently affixed to a foundation.
- ✓ <u>Manufactured</u> a house that is fully constructed as a single unit in a factory, brought to the site by truck and placed on a fixed foundation.

## **Expenditure Time Frames**

All HOME funds for a project must be expended within twelve (12) months of project commitment (see information above relative to project commitment). Exceptions may be made by the City of Kenosha HOME program under special circumstances. Projects must be closed out (completion and demographic data submitted) within 90 days of the final HOME request for funds.

## **PROJECT MAXIMUMS**

#### **Rent Limits**

For rental projects, HOME rent limits are published each year. The current rent limits can be found in Appendix 1 or accessed at <a href="https://onecpd.info/resource-library/home-rent-limits/">https://onecpd.info/resource-library/home-rent-limits/</a>.

## Per Unit Subsidy - Rental

HUD establishes maximum per unit subsidy, known as the 221(d)3 limits. The maximum per unit subsidy can be found in Appendix 2. HOME funding may not be utilized on projects that exceed these maximum per unit subsidies.

## **Homeownership Value Limit**

HUD establishes, and updates periodically, the maximum allowable value for homeownership housing units. This is the after-rehab value for units that are either acquired or rehabilitated utilizing HOME funding. This is called the Homeownership Value Limes or the 95% limit. Section 92.254(a)(2)(iii) states that two (2) values will be established for the median purchase price/after rehab value. One is for newly constructed housing and one for existing housing. HOME funds may not be utilized on any property that exceeds these values. The current limits can be found in Appendix 3 or accessed at: https://www.onecpd.info/resource/2312/home-maximum-purchase-price-after-rehab-value/.

#### SECTION 504 AND FAIR HOUSING ACT

All projects receiving HOME funds must comply with section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 and the Fair Housing Act of 1988. It is the applicant's responsibility to become familiar with these legislative acts.

#### MONITORING

#### **Quarterly Status Reports**

Quarterly progress reports must be submitted to the City of Kenosha by the tenth (10<sup>th</sup>) working day of April, July, October and January. Completion Reports must be given to the City of Kenosha within ninety (90) days of the final draw of funds allocated for a project. Failure to submit reports in a timely manner could result in retention of future funds.

#### **Annual Monitoring**

At a minimum, City of Kenosha staff will do a "desk monitoring" all HOME funded projects on an annual basis. Rental Projects, in accordance with the updated 2013 Final Rule, will be monitored a minimum of every 3 years. Construction projects will be monitored more frequently at the discretion of City of Kenosha. Follow-up monitoring and inspections will be completed in accordance with HUD guidelines.

During the Affordability Period, rental projects that contain 10 or more HOME-assisted units will be required to submit financial reports annually to the City of Kenosha. Financial reports may include copies of the Operating Budget, Balance Sheet and Profit and Loss Statement, Rent Roll, as well as certified Audits. The City will assess the financial condition of the project to ensure continued compliance with HOME Program requirements and to prevent project failure and repayment of HOME funds. Where feasible, the City is required to take action to correct problems that threaten the project's financial viability. City actions may consist of technical assistance and increased oversight, financial modifications, consultations with HUD and other project stakeholders, foreclosure, transfer of project ownership, or receivership.

### **Payment Requests**

At a minimum, agencies receiving HOME funding commitments should submit requests for payment on a quarterly basis. Failure to draw funds in a timely manner could result in a reduction of funding. Requests for payment may be made as often as needed (i.e. does not necessarily need to be done by the 1<sup>st</sup> of the month).

Requests for payment must be on the prescribed City of Kenosha form, or forms acceptable to the City of Kenosha.

## **Income Determination and Eligibility**

Individuals receiving assistance through the HOME program must be determined income eligible using the most current definition of IRS Form 1040 Adjusted Annual Gross Income. Individuals receiving rental assistance must be determined income eligible using the most current definition of the "Part 5" Annual Income as defined at 24 CFR 5.609. An income calculator is available at the HUD website to provide assistance with calculating income. The income determination is the responsibility of the agency providing the assistance, not that of the City of Kenosha. Income re-evaluations for rental projects and Tenant-based Rental Assistance must be completed annually during the affordability period of the project.

Initial income must be verified via third-party documentation. Income must be re- certified annually in accordance with HOME regulations, utilizing third-party documentation every six (6) years. A minimum of two (2) months of income source documentation shall be reviewed when determining income.

Applicant requirements and documentation must be consistent for all participants of a project (i.e. criminal history checks, credit reports, etc.)

#### **Record Retention**

All records must be maintained and accessible for a minimum of five (5) years beyond the end of the affordability period.

#### General

The City of Kenosha will not accept proposals from any applicant having projects that have not commenced that received previous years' City of Kenosha HOME funding commitments.

In the event there is a turnover in agency staff administering any HOME funded project, City of Kenosha must be notified within thirty (30) days in order to provide technical assistance to new and/or reassigned staff to ensure program compliance.

All applications for either homeownership projects containing more than one unit or rental projects, <u>must</u> be accompanied by a 10-year (or longer) operating Pro Forma, as well as, a "Sources and Uses Statement". Applications not containing this information may not be reviewed or funded.

## **Match Requirements**

All projects for HOME assistance must provide a minimum of 25% match.

- Eligible forms of project match include:
  - ✓ Cash contributions from non-federal sources
  - ✓ Participation of Federal Home Loan Bank Affordable Housing Program, Trust Fund, State and other public or private sources
  - ✓ Grants contributing to a below-market interest rate loan
  - ✓ Waived fees for a HOME-eligible project
  - ✓ Donation of real property
  - ✓ Donated labor and/or sweat equity
- Ineligible forms of match include:
  - ✓ Owner equity or investment in a project
  - ✓ Interest rate subsidy attributable to the Federal tax-exemption on financing or Federal tax credits
  - ✓ Cash or other forms of contributions from applicants or recipients of HOME assistance (with the exception of sweat equity).
- Documentation of match must be submitted to the City of Kenosha upon receipt. Agencies must also maintain documentation of match for a minimum of five (5) years after the completion of the project.

## **Affordability Period**

HOME project owners/buyers are required to maintain HOME funded properties as affordable for a minimum affordability period based on the amount of HOME funds spent on the project. The guidelines are as follows:

Under \$15,000 per unit	5 years
\$15,000 - \$40,000 per unit	10 years
Over \$40,000	15 years
New construction or acquisition within one year of construction (for rental projects)	20 years

A deed restriction and/or restrictive covenant will be prepared by the City of Kenosha, a sub-recipient, or a CHDO, and must be signed by the owner/buyer. This agreement establishes the occupancy and affordability requirements for the property as well as the owner's obligations to the City of Kenosha. In signing the agreement, the owner agrees to the restrictions on the use of the property set forth in the document. This agreement will then be recorded by the City of Kenosha, its sub-recipient or CHDO, in the office of the Kenosha County Register of Deeds and therefore binds the project owner and all subsequent owners for the full term of the agreement.

If a homebuyer sells the home before the HOME affordability period has expired, the City will re-capture the pro-rated HOME subsidy out of the net available proceeds from the Homeowner. The City and Homeowner will split the net available proceeds up to the amount of the HOME financial assistance to the Homeowner.

Failure to comply with affordability requirements will require repayment of all HOME funds extended to the project by the project sponsor, owner or developer.

#### **Lead-based Paint**

Housing that is purchased, rehabilitated or assisted in some way with HOME is subject to the Lead-based Paint Poisoning Prevention Act, the Residential Lead-based Paint Hazard Reduction Act and the implementing regulations for these Acts.

HUD maintains a website for the Office of Healthy Homes and Lead Hazard Control where lead-based paint requirements are described as they apply to HUD programs. The website is located on the main HUD site at <a href="https://www.hud.gov/offices/lead/index.cfm">www.hud.gov/offices/lead/index.cfm</a>.

Applicants for HOME funds shall discuss acquisition projects where units that are older than 1978 are being purchased with City of Kenosha HOME funds prior to purchase. Lead paint was used in all residential paints prior to 1978.

Testing for lead, an assessment of its presence, and a plan for stabilization or removal will be required if HOME funds are used to acquire pre-1978 units.

#### **Useful Life of Major Systems and Capital Needs Assessments**

The 2013 Final Rule requires a Capital Needs Assessment to estimate the useful life of major systems when HOME funds assist a project. To this extent, the City of Kenosha is required to estimate the remaining useful life of majors systems (based on age and current condition). Where it is estimated that the useful life is less than the affordability period, the City through project underwriting is required to ensure that a replacement reserve is established and annual payments made to the replacement reserve are adequate to replace and/or replace major systems when needed. HOME funds are not eligible to fund replacement reserve accounts, but

a larger HOME subsidy may be permitted to reduce debt payments and overall operating expenses, allowing a larger share of operating revenue to fund the replacement reserves.

For homeowner acquisition and/or rehabilitation projects and rehabilitation of owner-occupied housing, the City of Kenosha is required to ensure that each major system has a remaining useful life of at least five (5) years at the time of project completion. Major systems with a useful life of less than five years after project completion would be required to be rehabilitated or replaced to meet this requirement.

## **CHDOs**

#### **CHDO**

Federal regulations require a minimum of 15% of the annual HOME allocation to the City be set aside for housing projects that are owned, sponsored or developed by CHDOs. A **CHDO** is a non-profit organization that meets a variety of criteria outlined in the HOME regulations. HUD has specific requirements to qualify as the owner, sponsor, or developer.

## **Rental Housing**

- OWNER A CHDO that is an owner is required to own the HOME project during the
  development and throughout the period of affordability, and is required to hire a
  project manager or have a contract with a development contractor to oversee all
  aspects of the development.
- DEVELOPER A CHDO that is a developer of rental housing must arrange for the construction financing and is in sole charge of the construction, and must own the HOME-assisted housing throughout the period of affordability.
- SPONSOR A CHDO that is a sponsor of HOME-assisted rental housing "owns" and
  "develops" the rental housing project that it agrees to convey to a private non-profit
  organization at a predetermined time after completion of the development of the
  project.

## **Homebuyer Projects**

DEVELOPER – Housing is developed by a CHDO if it is the owner (in fee simple absolute, or long-term ground leases) and developer of new housing that will be constructed or existing substandard housing that is owned or will be acquired by the CHDO and rehabilitated for sale to low-income families, in accordance with 92.254. The CHDO must arrange financing of the project and be in sole charge of the construction.

#### **Sole General Partner**

- 24 CFR 92.300(a)(a1) requires that if a CHDO owns a project in partnership, or owns the project through its wholly-owned for-profit or non-profit subsidiary, it must be the managing general partner. This also extends to LLCs.

#### **CHDO Commitment Of Funds**

CHDO funds must be committed by City of Kenosha within 24 months of the obligation of HOME funds. Funds may not be committed to a project until all necessary project financing is secured, a budget and time schedule are established and underwriting and subsidy layering review are completed, as noted in Appendix 5. Construction must commence within 12 months of the project commitment.

The City of Kenosha urges CHDOs, which plan to submit for projects, plan well in advance so that all financing is secured and the budget and time schedule are completed. This ensures that HOME funding may be utilized and that no funds will be withdrawn from the project for lack of being able to move forward and meet the HOME requirements.

The City of Kenosha will not undertake the underwriting and subsidy layering review until all funding has been identified.

The CHDO and City of Kenosha will enter into a written agreement which will stipulate all of the conditions of the HOME funding as well as the legal documents that will need to be signed and/or recorded for the project.

As mentioned above, CHDOs must apply for certification as a City of Kenosha CHDO at the time of project application. It is advisable to begin work on this process prior to application submission as it may take some time for the City to certify.

#### **CHDO Certification**

An organization that meets the requirements of a CHDO found at 24 CFR 92.300 may apply for City CHDO Certification. This application must be done at the same time that application for funding is made. City of Kenosha will certify only those organizations applying for CHDO setaside funding each year. City of Kenosha reserves the right to make the final determination on whether an organization meets all of the requirements of the HOME regulations.

#### **CHDO Policies and Procedures**

CHDO Policies and Procedures are reviewed and modified as needed on an annual basis. Those policies and procedures are included as Appendix 6 to these policies.

## Rental Projects

HOME funds may be used for acquisition, new construction or rehabilitation of affordable rental housing. Owners of the rental housing may be small property owners, for-profit developers, non-profit housing providers, CHDOs or government agencies. Owners will be "desk monitored" on an annual basis by the City of Kenosha to ensure compliance in occupancy, rent restrictions, affordability requirements, and property standards. Additionally, an on-site inspection will be required to be conducted a minimum of once every three (3) years.

## **General Requirements**

- ✓ Funds may not be committed to a project until all necessary project financing is secured, a budget and time schedule are established and underwriting and subsidy layering review (if necessary) are completed, as noted in Appendix 5. Construction must commence within 12 months of the project commitment. Agreements will not be signed until this information has been submitted to and approved by the City of Kenosha.
- ✓ Project records must be maintained by the owner for a minimum of five (5) years beyond the required affordability period.
- ✓ Owners must adopt a written tenant selection policy. A copy of the policy must be on file with the City of Kenosha. Any changes to an existing policy must be provided to the City of Kenosha immediately.
- ✓ Tenant files must be maintained on all HOME units. Files must contain a current lease signed by the tenant, documentation of income, application and household information including family composition, documentation of Section 8 subsidy showing tenant and subsidized portions and documentation of correspondence with tenant, yearly income verifications, as well as any other pertinent information on the tenant (i.e. background/criminal checks, etc.)
- ✓ Third party documentation of income must be verified to determine eligibility prior to family moving in. Income documentation must be no more than three (3) months old.
- ✓ Income must be verified annually to ensure compliance and maintained in the tenant's files. Third-party documentation must be performed every six (6) years.
- ✓ Tenant files must be maintained for a minimum of five (5) years after the tenant vacates the unit.
- ✓ All units must be maintained in compliance with HUD Housing Quality Standards and City of Kenosha Minimum Housing Rehabilitation Standards and/or other governing jurisdiction building codes.

- ✓ Owner must adhere to Equal Opportunity, Affirmative Marketing and Fair Housing (contained within these policies) practices in all marketing efforts, eligibility determinations and other transactions. Owners must solicit applications from persons in the housing market not likely to apply without special outreach efforts. All marketing efforts must be documented.
- ✓ The Equal Housing Opportunity Logo or statement must be used in all written communication and advertising of vacant units and must be displayed in the housing/rental office.
- ✓ No bidding or contracting may occur prior to written authorization of the City of Kenosha. Failure to follow these requirements will cause the funding agreement to become void.
- ✓ Progress inspections will be conducted by the City of Kenosha in order to ensure that work is progressing in a timely manner, that the work is completed in accordance with the codes and construction contract and documents, and to initiate a progress payment. No final payment of HOME funds will be made until all construction is complete and the unit is ready for occupancy.
- ✓ City of Kenosha will monitor the project during the period of affordability. This will include on-site inspections to determine that the unit(s) continues to meet the property standards as well as a monitoring of files as required by HOME regulations. The Owner may be required to pay a fee that will be invoiced to the Owner by the City of Kenosha to cover the cost of on-going monitoring.

#### PROPERTY STANDARDS

#### **New Construction**

All newly constructed rental units must meet the applicable State and Local residential and building codes upon project completion.

All newly constructed rental units must also meet the accessibility requirements of 24 CFR Part 8 (implements Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973) and Titles II and II of the Americans with Disabilities Act implemented at 28 CFR Parts 35 and 36, as applicable. Covered multifamily dwellings, (buildings consisting of 4 or more dwelling units if such buildings have one or more elevators; and ground floor dwelling units in other buildings consisting of 4 or more dwelling units) must also meet design and construction requirements at 24 CFR 100.205.

#### Rehabilitation

City of Kenosha has adopted a modified version of the State of Wisconsin Minimum Housing Rehabilitation Standards as the standard for all rehabilitation work. A copy of these standards is available on the City of Kenosha web site.

Eligible projects may be existing one or more multifamily buildings with rental units on a single site; or multiple sites that are under common ownership, management and financing. In no case shall funding be provided for a unit to be converted to a rental unit if the existing use or former use was owner-occupied housing.

A Capital Needs Assessment is required for rehabilitation projects with a total of 26 or more units. The City will require that the scope of the rehabilitation work and replacement reserves deposits are sufficient to ensure the useful life of essential building components throughout the required Affordability Period.

## **Occupancy**

Upon initial occupancy, renters must be at or below 50% of the Area Median Income (AMI). If after initial occupancy the family's income increases above 80% AMI, the family may continue to occupy the unit with the stipulation that they pay at least thirty percent (30%) of their adjusted monthly income as rent. An exception is made for units financed with Low Income Housing Tax Credits, in which case tax credit regulations apply.

In rental project of five (5) or more units, at least twenty percent (20%) of the HOME assisted units must be occupied by families with an annual gross income at or below fifty percent (50%) of the AMI. Rents for these units must be at or below the Low HOME rents. The City of Kenosha's current policy is that all HOME assisted units in rental projects are subject to Low HOME rents.

All HOME assisted units must be fully occupied within 18 months of construction/rehab completion. Project completion is specified below. If a unit is not occupied within 18 months, the Owner will be required to repay the HOME funds that have been invested on that unit.

All tenants in HOME assisted units must have a lease that meets all of the requirements of the HOME program.

#### 1. Leases

- a. Lease must be for at least one year
- b. Lease may not contain any of the following provisions:
  - i. **Agreement to be sued**: Agreement by the tenant to be sued, to admit guilt, or to a judgment in favor of the owner in a lawsuit brought in connection with the lease.

- ii. <u>Treatment of property</u>: Agreement by the tenant that the owner may seize or sell personal property of household members without notice to the tenant and a court decision on the rights of the parties. This provision does not apply to disposition of personal property left by a tenant who has vacated a property.
- iii. **Excusing owner from responsibility**: Agreement by the tenant not to hold the owner or the owner's agents legally responsible for any action or failure to act, whether intentional or negligent.
- iv. <u>Waiver of notice</u>: Agreement of the tenant that the owner may institute a lawsuit without notice to the tenant.
- v. <u>Waiver of legal proceedings</u>: Agreement of the tenant that the owner may evict the tenant or household members without instituting a civil court proceeding in which the tenant has the opportunity to present a defense, or before a court decision on the rights of the parties.
- vi. Waiver of a jury trial: Agreement by the tenant to waive any right to a trial by jury.
- vii. <u>Waiver of right to appeal court decision</u>: Agreement by the tenant to waive the tenant's right to appeal or to otherwise challenge in court a court decision in connection with the lease.
- viii. <u>Tenant chargeable with cost of legal actions regardless of outcome</u>:

  Agreement by the tenant to pay attorney's fees or other legal costs, even if the tenant wins in a court proceeding by the owner against the tenant. The tenant, however, may be obligated to pay costs if the tenant loses.
- ix. <u>Mandatory supportive services:</u> Agreement by the tenant (other than a tenant in transitional housing) to accept supportive services that are offered.
- c. Owners may terminate tenancy or refuse to renew a lease upon 30 days' written notice, and only for: serious or repeated violation of the terms and conditions of the lease; violation of applicable federal, state, or local law; completion of the tenancy period for transitional housing or for other good cause in accordance with 24 CFR 92.253(c).

#### **Tenant Selection**

The Owner must comply with the Affirmative Marketing Policy (Appendix 4). The Owner must also adopt and follow written tenant selection policies and criteria (24 CFR 92.253 (d)). The Owner must submit the tenant selection policies and criteria to the City of Kenosha with the funding agreement. These policies and criteria must be approved by the City of Kenosha prior to the leasing/renting of any properties.

## **Fixed/Floating Units**

The City of Kenosha has determined that all HOME assisted units will be fixed units. Fixed units require the owner to assign a permanent address to the assisted units. Fixed units will be designated through the Written Agreement and a recorded Land Use Restriction Agreement (LURA).

#### **Rent Restrictions**

Owners of HOME projects must keep units affordable to low-income tenants during the entire affordability period. Maximum rent limits are published by HUD annually and distributed to recipients of funds. Current rent limits are contained in Appendix 1. In the event that limits go below the rate published at the time of contract execution, owners will not be required to lower rents and may retain their current rates.

Owners may request an increase in rent as rent limits change. However, the owners may not change a tenant's rent prior to the expiration date on the lease agreement. Owners must provide tenants at least thirty (30) days notification of rent increases. The City of Kenosha shall review and approve all proposed rent increases.

## **Site and Neighborhood Standards**

New construction rental projects must ensure that the project conforms to the "Site and Neighborhood Standards" as described in 24CFR 983.6(b).

## **Project Completion**

Rental projects are considered complete once construction is completed and the units are ready for occupancy. All HOME units within a rental projects must be rented to an initial occupant within 18 months of project completion. All HOME funding will be required to be repaid to HUD for units not occupied within the 18 month time frame.

All HOME assisted units must be completed within four (4) years of signing the funding agreement between the Owner and the City of Kenosha. Funds expended on units that are not complete within the required 4 years will result in the repayment of all HOME funding to the City of Kenosha for reimbursement to HUD. Funding agreements must be signed within 12 months of the beginning of the program year.

## **Funding Levels**

The minimum amount of funding that can be applied to a HOME assisted unit is \$1,000.

The maximum amount of funding that can be applied to a HOME assisted unit is the 221(d)(3) limit as published each year and provided to the City of Kenosha by HUD. The current limit is attached as Appendix 2.

# Homeownership Activities

## **Construction/Rehab of Homeownership Units for Resale**

City of Kenosha HOME funds may be utilized by entities for the construction or rehabilitation of units for resale for homeownership to qualified low-income (up to 80% of AMI) individuals and/or families.

- ❖ Environmental and historical reviews must be conducted by City of Kenosha on every project. City of Kenosha will notify the agency of documentation needed to complete the review. It is the responsibility of the owner/developer to insure that City of Kenosha has all information necessary to complete the reviews. Environmental and historical reviews will be completed prior to the award of a Grant Agreement. Projects may not commence and funds may not be expended (federal or non-federal) until the review is completed and HUD releases the project.
- Grant agreements will only be signed upon the submission of project timeline and final commitment and proof of all other funding sources.
- Construction plans and/or work specifications must be submitted to City of Kenosha to be reviewed prior to the execution of the HOME Grant Agreement between the City of Kenosha and the owner/developer (non-profit). All plans must be approved prior to commencement of construction. Any changes to the approved plans must be submitted to City of Kenosha for approval.
- ❖ Funds may not be committed to a project until all necessary project financing is secured, a budget and time schedule are established and underwriting and subsidy layering review (if necessary) are completed, as noted in Appendix 5. Construction must commence within 12 months of the project commitment. Grant agreements will not be signed until this information has been submitted to and approved by the City of Kenosha.
- The City of Kenosha will not approve a grant agreement until a buyer is pre-approved to purchase the property upon completion.
- ❖ HOME Grant Agreements must be signed within fourteen (14) days of the receipt of the funding agreement from the City of Kenosha.
- Construction must begin within three (3) months of plans and/or work specification approval by the City of Kenosha.
- For projects that require acquisition of land or property, the agency may obtain a purchase option agreement in lieu of full ownership. The agreement must state that the

- purchase of the property is contingent upon the results of the environmental review and the release of funds by HUD.
- ❖ All legal notices and advertisements pertaining to construction of the project must be reviewed by the City of Kenosha prior to publication.
- All new construction projects must meet the federal energy efficiency standards and must meet or exceed building codes as established by City of Kenosha or other governing jurisdiction.
- All rehabilitation projects must meet the City of Kenosha Minimum Housing Rehabilitation Standards adopted by the City of Kenosha and follow all local applicable building codes.
- Construction files must be maintained and accessible for a minimum of five (5) years beyond the affordability period.

#### **Bid Procedures**

- All projects, except for CHDO projects, must be sent out for public bid regardless of other funding sources in the project. (Projects involving Low-Income Housing Tax Credit (LIHTC) funding may request a waiver of this requirement.) Bid documents must be approved by the City of Kenosha prior to advertisement. Failure to receive prior approval will result the project non-compliance and termination of the funding agreement.
- ❖ Bid packets must be available for pickup for a minimum of two (2) weeks.
- ❖ Bids must be sealed when submitted to the agency. All bids will be opened by the agency at a pre-designated date and time.
- City of Kenosha staff and all bidders must be notified of date and time of bid opening.
- Normally the lowest, responsive bidder will be awarded the contract. In the event the agency selects a bid other than the lowest, they must submit the bids along with documentation to support the selection to the City of Kenosha for approval. This may or may not be approved by the City of Kenosha.

### **Payment/Release of funds**

- Funds are disbursed on a reimbursement basis. If the Agency is unable to meet the cost of construction and/or services on a reimbursement basis, payment terms must be discussed and approved by City of Kenosha staff prior to construction.
- ❖ Agencies must submit one copy of a HOME Request for Payment form along with copies of the invoice from the contractor or service provider. Claims submitted without proper back-up documentation will be returned to the Agency. No faxed copies of the "HOME Request for Payment" form will be accepted. However, a scanned copy with an original signature in blue ink will be accepted.
- The City of Kenosha may hold payment including final payment for the project pending inspection and approval by the City of Kenosha for possible Davis Bacon and all other

federal requirements as well as requirements of the Grant Agreement. The funds will not be released until the City of Kenosha has received and approved all required documentation. All new construction projects must have a *Certificate of Occupancy* from City of Kenosha or other governing jurisdiction. All rehab projects must be inspected by a City of Kenosha housing inspector and have documentation indicating the property complies with building code regulations.

#### Relocation

❖ HOME projects must comply with the Uniform Relocation Act (URA) whenever displacement occurs as a direct result of HOME-assisted rehabilitation, demolition or acquisition, including acquisition for homebuyer activities. If the proposed project is occupied at the time of application, contact the City of Kenosha for detailed regulations. Failure to do so may result in disqualification of your application as you may be required to submit notifications as part of your application. It is the expressed policy of City of Kenosha to strictly comply with the URA and to minimize displacement.

#### **Cost Overruns**

- ❖ Applicants should make every effort to be realistic when developing the construction and development budgets. Construction budgets should be comprehensive and should consider items such as the removal of lead based paint and asbestos, the effect of cost estimating now for work to be performed some months into the future, and contingencies.
- The City of Kenosha does not keep a reserve account for cost overruns. Funds will not be available to pay for cost overruns. Overruns will be the responsibility of the owner or developer. The protocol for payment of HOME funds to the project is:
  - GAP
  - Contingency
  - Developer Fee

## **Developers Fees**

❖ Developer fees may not exceed 15% of the total project costs. The final payment of Developer fees will be the last funds paid for a project. In the event of cost overruns, developer fees must be used as a contingency fund if no other funds are available.

## **Project Completion**

A Homeownership housing project is considered complete when:

- all necessary title transfer requirements and construction work are complete; and

- the project complies with the property standards under 24 CFR 92.251; and
- the final payment of HOME funds has been disbursed; and
- all project completion data has been submitted to City of Kenosha including demographic information on the homeowner and City of Kenosha has approved and entered the completion data into IDIS (Integrated Disbursement Information System).

Project must be completed within four (4) years of the signing of the Grant Agreement with the City of Kenosha.

The 2013 amended HOME Final Rule requires that all units must be sold within nine (9) months of a certificate of occupancy (6 months for projects funded with 2012 HOME funds). Units not sold within this time frame must be converted to rental units. The City's HOME policy is that homeownership units are preferred over rental units. Therefore, the City will not enter into a grant agreement until a buyer is pregualified, and there are a pool of alternate buyers.

Owner must provide a market study to ensure that the units will be sold within the required time frame, along with documentation of a prequalified buyer and pool of alternate buyers.

## **Funding Levels**

The minimum amount of funding that can be applied to a HOME assisted unit is \$1,000.

The maximum amount of funding that can be applied to a HOME assisted unit is determined by the HOME Homeownership Value Limits as published each year and provided to the City of Kenosha by HUD. The current limit is attached as Appendix 3.

## Tenant-based Rental Assistance

Eligible costs include the rental assistance and security deposit payments made to provide tenant-based rental assistance for eligible households.

Administration of tenant-based rental assistance is eligible under Administrative Expenses (subject to administrative CAP). In accordance with the July 23, 2013 revision of the HOME Final Rule, administrative expenses for conducting unit inspections and determining the income of tenant-based rental assistance applicants or recipients are also eligible for project-related soft costs.

Tenant-based Rental Assistance Program Guidelines are reviewed and modified as needed on an annual basis. These guidelines are included in Appendix 7 to these policies.

# Owner Occupied Housing Rehabilitation

The City of Kenosha manages and operates an in-house owner occupied housing rehabilitation program. The Rehabilitation Loan Program provides assistance for owner-occupied single family homes to rehabilitate their homes through a deferred mortgage loan. Loans up to a maximum of \$45,000 are available based on property equity, less any existing mortgage balances.

Applicants are required to have a minimum 600 credit score, have proof of Homeowner's insurance, be current with any existing mortgage payments and not be tax-delinquent. Applicants will be required to permit the City to inspect the interior and exterior of their property and to conduct a lead paint risk assessment. All identified lead paint hazards and violations of the City's Property Maintenance Code will be required to be completed through the loan program. Additionally, major building components such as roofing, windows, furnaces and water heaters will be evaluated to ensure a useful life of at least five (5) years. Where the useful life of a major building component is determined to be less than five years, replacement or repair shall be required.

The maximum after-rehab value of a property assisted with HOME funds may not exceed the HOME Homeownership Value Limits as published each year by HUD.

Repayment will not be required until the applicant no longer resides at the property or upon transfer of the property to a new owner. Repayment will consist of the principal balance of the loan, plus a 3% servicing fee.

## Down Payment Assistance

The City of Kenosha, a subrecipient, or a CHDO may provide a Down Payment Assistance Grant to eligible homeubyers through HOME Program funds. The Down Payment Assistance Grant requires the homebuyer to pay a minimum of 25% of the required downpayment amount, or \$1000, whichever is greater. The homebuyer will be required to live in the unit for a minimum of five (5) years, or the grant amount will be required to be paid back in full, less a 20% reduction for every year the homebuyer resides in the unit.

The City of Kenosha, a subrecipient, or a CHDO may provide a Down Payment Assistance Grant of up to \$5,000 for eligible Veterans Administration loan borrowers. Down payment assistance grants will be a lien filed on the property and will be forgiven provided the homebuyer resides at the property for a period of five (5) years after purchasing the property. Where the

homebuyer lives in the unit for less than 5 years, the grant amount will be required to be paid back in full, less a 20% reduction for every year the homebuyer resides in the unit.

# Second Mortgage Purchase Assistance

HOME funded second mortgage purchase assistance will be provided for up to 40% of the purchase price of homes sold by the City of Kenosha. HOME second mortgage purchase loans will be written as deferred payment loans at 0% interest for up to the first fifteen (15) years, then monthly payments will be required for the next fifteen (15) years at an interest rate of 3% annually.

On a case-by-case basis, subject to final approval by the Kenosha Housing Authority Board, the City may offer a second mortgage loan where repayment is deferred until time of sale or when the property ceases to be the principal residence of the homebuyer. This provision is also available to existing holders of City Second Mortgage Loans when refinancing. Repayment shall not be required until the borrower sells the home or it is no longer their principal residence. Such loans shall be subject to a "deferred loan fee" of 10% of the original loan amount at the time of repayment.

Second mortgage purchase assistance loans will continue to be made available to income eligible homebuyers purchasing new homes city-wide. These purchase assistance loans will be provided for up 17% of the purchase price of the home. HOME second mortgage purchase loans for eligible homebuyers will be written as deferred payment loans at 0% interest for the first ten (10) years, then monthly payments will be required for the next twenty (20) years at an interest rate of 3% annually.

In all cases, the second mortgage will be based on the financing gap, less the amount of the first mortgage and required down payment. As part of its underwriting review, the City will evaluate debt-to-income (dti) ratio for all applicants. Generally, the front end dti should not be any greater than 30%, including the first mortgage principal and interest, taxes and insurance, and the back-end dti should be less than 45%. Where the front-end dti is greater than 30% or the back-end dti is greater than 45%, the City may provide a second mortgage for a larger amount than the financing gap to reduce the front-end dti to 30% or less, or to reduce the back-end dti to 45% or less.

# Anti-Predatory Lending Policy

The City of Kenosha is required to adopt a policy on anti-predatory lending for its homebuyer policies. The policy described here ensures that borrowers are not subject to undue financial burden or unreasonable terms as a result of their loan.

First mortgage loans that are supplemented by HOME funds provided through the City of Kenosha must comply with these minimum responsible lending requirements:

- Interest rates charged to borrower may not exceed 2 percentage points above FHA-Insured rates.
- The interest rate must remain fixed for the term of the loan, unless an existing loan is refinanced
- Interest-only loans or balloon loans will not be permitted
- Borrower's total debt-to-income ratio may not exceed 45%
- Points and fees charged in connection with the loan will not exceed 5% of the total loan amount
- No prepayment penalties

# Subordination Policy

The City will process requests for mortgage subordinations from homebuyers for their HOME funded second mortgage under the following criteria:

- By refinancing their first mortgage, the borrower will be able to lower their interest rate, monthly payment and/or loan term.
- The borrower will be able to convert from an ARM to a fixed rate mortgage.
- The borrower will be taking out an equity loan or refinancing for purposes of doing home improvements, purchasing a car or for college costs.
- The City will require a 90% Loan to Value limit on equity loans, and a maximum of 125%
  Loan to Value limit on refinancing where the borrower is able to lower their interest
  rate, payment or loan term. The Loan to Value ratio will include the City's HOME second
  mortgage balance.

- The City will use the Assessed Value as determined by the City Assessor's Office, Estimated Market Value consistent with valuation modules permitted by the first mortgage's loan program, or appraised value, whichever is higher, to determine the property value.
- Closing costs and fees for the proposed refinancing loan or equity loan must be no more than 3% of the proposed new loan amount.

Written requests for mortgage subordinations from homebuyers with a HOME second mortgage will be accepted and reviewed by City staff. A report and recommendation will be submitted to the City of Kenosha Housing Authority Board of Commissioners for review and consideration. A processing fee of \$100 will be charged to the borrower upon approval and processing the mortgage subordination.

#### 2015 HOME Rent Limits - Kenosha County

	Efficiency 1 Bedi		2 Bedroom	3 Bedroom	4 Bedroom	5 Bedroom	6 Bedroom
Low HOME Rent	\$587	\$676	\$811	\$937	\$1,046	\$1,1514	\$1,261
High HOME Rent	\$587	\$701	\$899	\$1,184	\$1,301	\$1,417	\$1,534
For Information Only			l	1		1	1
FAIR MARKET RENT	\$587	\$701	\$899	\$1,306	\$1,368	\$1,573	\$1,778
50% RENT LIMIT	\$631	\$676	\$811	\$937	\$1,046	\$1,154	\$1,261
65% RENT LIMIT	\$800	\$859	\$1,033	\$1,184	\$1,301	\$1,417	\$1,534

## **Per Unit Subsidy – 2015, All Wisconsin Participating Jurisdictions**

ТУРЕ	All Wisconsin Participating	Basic Limits per No. of Bedrooms									
	Jurisdictions	0	1	2	3	4+					
TOR		\$58,378	\$66,923	\$81,377	\$105,276	\$115,560					
ELEVATOR	HCP = 240%	\$140,107	\$160,615	\$195,305	\$252,662	\$277,344					

## **Homeownership Value Limits - FY 2015**

		Existing Homes HOME Purchase Price Limit						New Homes HOME Purchase Price Limit							
State	Area Name	1-Unit	2-Unit	3-Unit	4-Unit	Unadjusted Median Value	Years Worth of Sales Data	Number of Sales for Unadjusted Median	1-Unit	2-Unit	3-Unit	4-Unit	Unadjusted Median Value	Years Worth of Sales Data	Number of Sales for Unadjusted Median
WI	Kenosha County, Kenosha County MSA	\$143,000	\$182,000	\$221,000	\$274,000	\$150,000	1	7,024	\$224,000	\$287,000	\$347,000	\$430,000	\$235,665	8	136

## **Affirmative Marketing Policy**

Policy:

The City shall use a variety of public service announcements to inform persons of all genders, races, ages, ethnic groups, religious orientation, employment status, sources of income, marital status and sexual orientation of the availability of the housing opportunities made under the HOME Program.

Actions:

By virtue of the above policy, the City of Kenosha:

- Will continue to periodically publish information about programs it is implementing. Such information will include reference to the Affirmative Marketing Policy; Federal, State and local fair housing laws; and contain information on the program and housing units. New programs are introduced to the community through special news releases and as such call attention and impart information about them.
- 2. Does include in its contractual agreement with sub-recipients in the HOME Program, the requirements of an Affirmative Marketing Policy for a period of time equal to their HOME loan term.

This policy is to include the following requirements:

- a) Inform the Kenosha Housing Authority (KHA) and those community organizations offering referral services when a unit becomes available.
- b) Maintain a log of all households and applications received for occupancy in vacant units and to assess marketing effectiveness.
- c) Use the Equal Housing Opportunity logo, slogan, or statement in all advertising:
  - Equal Opportunity Logo
  - Slogan: "Equal Housing Opportunity"
  - Statement: "We are pledged to the letter and spirit of US policy for achievement of equal housing opportunity throughout the nation. We encourage and support an affirmative advertising and marketing program in which there are no barriers to obtaining housing because of race, color, religion or national origin."

This information will be provided individually unless the advertisement appears in publication which carries a blanket Equal Opportunity logo, slogan, or statement.

- d) Maintain a nondiscriminatory hiring policy.
- e) Display the Equal Housing Opportunity logo (in office or where there is a project sign).
- 3. Requires that in support of the Affirmative Marketing Policy, the sub-recipient makes every effort to solicit applications from persons not likely to apply for the housing without special outreach.
  - This shall include in addition to notifying the Kenosha Housing Authority of occurring vacancies, the Kenosha Urban League and any other community organizations the City identifies as providing housing referral services.
- 4. Review sub-recipient efforts to affirmatively market their units on an annual basis and suggest corrective action for sub-recipients who fail to follow the affirmative marketing requirements.
- 5. Through the Department of Community Development & Inspections, the City will develop and distribute informative materials through community outlets to aid in the affirmative marketing effort of these units.

Records:

As a result of the Affirmative Marketing Policy and the actions outlined above, the City of Kenosha will:

- 1. document its good faith efforts to inform persons about vacant units and how they can be occupied.
- 2. Conduct evaluations of assisted units to ensure compliance with the Affirmative Marketing Policy and to determine the policy's impact.
- 3. Maintain and make available records which will detail affirmative marketing actions by the City of Kenosha. The City also maintains documentation and communication with the Equal Housing and Equal Opportunity Office of the Milwaukee Area HUD office.
- 4. Maintain and make available the following data from each program-assisted project:

- a) The race, family size, gender, and income of households moving into assisted projects.
- b) The race, gender family size, and income of any household displaced as a result of program activities.

This data will be reviewed annually or periodically as determined by the City to effectively and efficiently report such information to HUD. This data will be used to assess the program's impact, households benefiting from program activities and the sub-recipients efforts to affirmatively market the assisted units. Any sub-recipient found not marketing the units in an affirmative manner will face actions outlined in this policy.

# Affirmative Marketing And Outreach To Minority And Women Owned Businesses Policy

The City of Kenosha shall administer its HOME Program in a manner that will further the purposes of federal, state, and local affirmative marketing and equal opportunity requirements. To that end, the City of Kenosha will:

- ➤ Conduct its affirmative marketing and outreach to minority (MBE) and women owned businesses (WBE) in conformance with 24 CFR Part 85.36 (e).
- Compile and utilize a listing of all known MBE;s and WBE's, their capabilities, services, supplies and/or products in the Kenosha area.
- > Encourage MBE's and WBE's to participate in the City of Kenosha's HOME Program.
- ➤ Require HOME sub-recipients to take affirmative steps to use MBE's and/or WBE's in HOME funded projects.
- Require HOME sub-recipients to maintain appropriate records to document the number and types of contracts and subcontracts it awards, the dollar value of each award, and the gender and ethnic/racial status of the management/ownership of the business.
- Compile an annual record of MBE's and WBE's participating in the HOME Program and conduct an annual review to assess the effectiveness of efforts to encourage participation by minority and women owned businesses.

### **Subsidy Layering Review and Underwriting Guidelines:**

As described in 24 CFR 92.250, the City of Kenosha is required to:

- 1. Evaluate subsidy layering and conduct or examine the underwriting of all projects to ensure that the HOME subsidy is not excessive and does not result in an undue or excessive return to the owner; and
- 2. Assess, at a minimum, the current market demand in the neighborhood in which the project will be located, the experience of the developer, the financial capacity of the developer, and firm financial commitments for the project.

Underwriting capacity does not apply to owner-occupied rehabilitation projects where is assistance is provided as a grant or deferred, forgivable loans to owner-occupants, or to homebuyer assistance projects that do not involve development or rehabilitation of housing, such as downpayment assistance.

Underwriting capacity <u>does</u> apply to owner-occupied rehabilation projects with an amortizing HOME-funded rehabilitation loan.

The City of Kenosha also <u>will not</u> be required to perform neighborhood market analyses or evaluate developer capacity for owner-occupied rehabilitation projects, or projects involving HOME-funded downpayment assistance, but no HOME-funded delopment.

The City of Kenosha will use the the following types of subsidy layering review before committing HOME program funds to any project:

- 1. A subsidy layering review produced by HUD, when the source of funding is provided by HUD, and HUD conducts a subsidy layering review;
- 2. Subsidy layering analysis produced by WHEDA, when Low-Income Housing Tax Credit (LIHTC) is used, and WHEDA conducts an evaluation to determine whether there are excess tax subsidies;
- 3. A subsidy layering analysis produced by the developer and reviewed by the City of Kenosha in accordance with the guidelines in HUD Notice CPD 98-1

#### Documentation Needed:

Project Pro Forma including sources and uses of funds statement, operating pro forma (rate of return on equity investment) that covers the entire HOME affordability period of the proposed

project, project development budget along with certification of federal assistance. The proforma should include achievable rent levels, market vacancies, and operating expenses.

#### Sources of Funds

- a. Commitment letters with all terms and conditions for all mortgages, grants, subordination agreements, bridge (interim) loans and investment tax credits (historical, low-income, if applicable); and
- b. If a partnership, a copy of the partnership agreement, which indicates the cash contribution by the general partner(s) and/or limited partner(s)
- c. Documentation of owner cash equity and any deferred developer fees

#### Uses of Funds

- a. Earnest money agreement; option or closing statement for land and/or buildings
- b. Construction cost estimate including acquisition costs, rehabilitation or new construction costs, financing costs and professional fees
- c. Construction contract or preliminary bid(s)
- d. Agreements governing the various reserves which are capitalized at closing (to verity that the reserves cannot be withdrawn later as fees or distributions)
- e. Appraisal (to substantiate the value of the land and the value of the property after rehabilitation or construction of the structure being built)
- f. If low-income tax credits are utilized, documentation on the syndication costs (legal, accounting, tax opinion, etc) from the organization/individual who will syndicate and sell the offering to ensure that the project can support the fees necessary to syndicate/fund the project
- g. Supporting documentation for all other costs specified in the Sources/Uses of Funds statement

#### Certification of Federal Assistance

- a. Formal certification concerning any other governmental assistance provided or to be provided to the project one certification for each funding source
- b. If no other governmental assistance, certification to this affect
- c. If this changes during the course of the project, the City of Kenosha needs to be informed immediately in the form of a new certification.

#### Project Development Budget

The City of Kenosha will review the project development budget to determine that the development costs are necessary and "reasonable". The budget will include all costs associated with the development, regardless of the funding sources.

"Reasonableness" of costs shall be based on the following factors:

- 1. Cost of comparable projects in the same geographical area;
- 2. The qualifications of the cost estimators for the various budget line items; and
- 3. Comparable costs published by recognized industry cost index services.

### **Underwriting Standards:**

City of Kenosha HOME projects will utilize the underwriting criteria as set forth below. Generally underwriting will review the risk analysis of the project including: market risk, developer risk, and project risk. Market risk is defined as the likelihood that the units can be sold. Developer risk is defined as the likelihood that the developer can complete the project on time and budget. Project risk is defined as the adequacy and reasonableness of the costs and sources to complete and sell the project.

- 1. Developer fees & overhead and any consultant fees may not exceed the sum of:
  - a. 15% of total rehabilitation and new construction eligible basis; and
  - 5% of total acquisition eligible basis; however a fee up to 10% of total acquisition
    eligible basis will be permitted for projects that require the approval of HUD for
    the transfer of the property.
- 2. Limits for Contractor Fee, Contractor Overhead and General Requirements will be calculated as follows:
  - a. Contractor Fee = 6% of hard construction costs
  - b. Contractor Overhead = 2% of hard construction costs
  - c. General Requirements = 6% of hard construction costs.
- 3. Total soft costs may not exceed 35% of total eligible basis. Total soft costs equal the sum of general requirements, contractor overhead, contractor profit, architectural fees, survey costs, engineering fees, permanent loan fees, cost of tax-exempt bond issuance, taxes, appraisal, market study, environmental report, rent-up/marketing costs, title & recording fees, non-syndication legal fees, accounting fees, developer fees & overhead, consultant fees, organizational fees, and syndication expenses.